SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA

F	ILED						
SID J WHITE							
	JUL 12 1994						

CLERK,	SUPREME COURT
By	inf December Clark

CITY OF SARASOTA, a municipal corporation,

Appellant/Petitioner,

٧.

Case No. 83,177

J. W. MIKOS, Property Appraiser for Sarasota County, Florida,

Appellee/Respondent.

On Appeal from the Second District Court of Appeal in and for the State of Florida

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT/PETITIONER, CITY OF SARASOTA

Sarah A. Schenk, Esq.
Attorney for Appellant/Petitioner
CITY OF SARASOTA
Taylor, Lawless and Singer, P.A.
46 N. Washington Blvd., Ste. 21
Sarasota, Florida 34236
(813) 366-0911
Florida Bar No. 0436739

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On July 18, 1991, Appellant/Petitioner J. W. MIKOS, Property Appraiser for Sarasota County, Florida ("MIKOS") filed a Complaint in the Circuit Court of the Twelfth Judicial Circuit in and for Sarasota County, Florida, naming the CITY OF SARASOTA, a municipal corporation, as Defendant ("CITY OF SARASOTA") (R55-58).2 Complaint sought a mandatory injunction restoring certain real property, together with a baseball stadium ("Stadium") owned by the CITY OF SARASOTA and under lease to the Chicago White Sox, Ltd. to the Sarasota County Tax Roll after the Sarasota County Property Appraisal Adjustment Board had granted a 100% exemption to said property (R56-57). MIKOS filed a Motion for Summary Judgment (R176-185) and the CITY OF SARASOTA filed a Motion for Summary Judgment (R186-274). The CITY OF SARASOTA filed two Affidavits of David R. Sollenberger, City Manager, stating the public recreational uses of the Stadium (R304-355, 356-407). The Court, after a hearing on both Motions for Summary Judgment (R1-54), entered a Final Summary Judgment (R466-467) granting MIKOS' Motion for Summary Judgment and denying the CITY OF SARASOTA's Motion for Summary Judgment, on the basis that the use by the Chicago White Sox and their farm team affiliate of the CITY's stadium for training and exhibition games is purely proprietary and for profit. The trial court in the Final Summary

¹ The Petitioner, CITY OF SARASOTA, FLORIDA, will be referred to as "CITY OF SARASOTA." The Respondent, J. W. MIKOS, Property Appraiser for Sarasota County, will be referred to as "MIKOS."

² References to the Record on Appeal shall be made by use of the letter "R" followed by the appropriate page.

Judgment relied upon: Williams v. Jones, 326 So.2d 425 (Fla. 1975); Volusia County v. Daytona Beach Racing and Recreational Facilities District, 341 So.2d 498 (Fla. 1976); Brandes v. City of Deerfield Beach, 186 So.2d 6 (Fla. 1966); and City of Orlando v. Hausman, 534 So.2d 1183 (Fla. 5th DCA 1988).

The CITY appealed the Final Summary Judgment before the Second District Court of Appeal and the Appellate Court entered a per curiam opinion affirming the Final Summary Judgment relying upon Sebring Airport Authority v. McIntyre, 623 So.2d 541 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1993) (Sup.Ct.App3).³ This opinion was rendered final on January 10, 1994, when the Appellate Court entered an Order denying the CITY's Motion for a Rehearing and for a Stay (Sup.Ct.App4). The CITY OF SARASOTA sought conflict jurisdiction before this Court.

The CITY OF SARASOTA in its Jurisdictional Brief stated that since the case which the per curiam opinion cited as controlling authority, <u>Sebring Airport Authority v. McIntyre</u>, 623 So.2d 541 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1993), was under review by the Supreme Court based on conflict, the per curiam opinion continued to constitute express conflict with <u>Page v. Fernandina Harbor Joint Venture</u>, 608 So.2d 520 (Fla. 1st DCA 1992), rev.den. 620 So.2d 761 (Fla. 1993). The Jurisdictional Brief of the CITY OF SARASOTA demonstrated that the First District permits a for-profit lessee serving a public purpose to utilize the ad valorem tax exemption set forth in §196.199, Fla.Stat. In contrast, the Second District focuses solely on the institutional character of the lessee to determine

References to the Appendix of this Brief shall be made by use of the letters "Sup.Ct.App." followed by the appropriate page.

that a public function cannot be served by a for-profit lease. Based upon this express conflict, this Court accepted jurisdiction.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The CITY and the Chicago White Sox, Ltd. entered into a Baseball Facility Lease dated August 3, 1988, covering the property, the tax exempt status of which is disputed in this litigation (R89,170). Commencing with the 1990 tax year, MIKOS assessed the real property upon which the Stadium is located proportionately for the use by the Chicago White Sox (R56). The CITY OF SARASOTA filed an application for a 100% exemption of the property under §196.199(2)(a), Fla.Stat. (1993) (R56). MIKOS denied the request for a total exemption and the CITY OF SARASOTA appealed to the Sarasota County Property Appraisal Adjustment Board who did grant a total exemption (R56-57). The Stadium functions as a public park for athletic purposes, including during the major league training games of the Chicago White Sox, Ltd. and the minor league games of their farm team affiliate (2DCA App.5,18).4 The baseball games of the Chicago White Sox, Ltd. and its farm team affiliate are required to be open to all members of the public as recognized in the Baseball Facility Lease (2DCA App.5,18). There is a fee charged for admission to the baseball games of the Chicago White Sox and their farm team affiliate (2DCA R173-174).

The use of the Stadium by the Chicago White Sox is a nonexclusive use (2DCA App.21-22). There are numerous public park and recreational activities occurring at the Stadium in addition to games of the Chicago White Sox including football games and

⁴ References to the Appendix of the CITY OF SARASOTA's Initial Brief before the Second District shall be made by use of the letters "2DCA App." followed by the appropriate page.

soccer games of local youth teams and baseball games of five high school teams (2DCA App.21-22).

The spring training games of the Chicago White Sox promote tourism by being a major draw for tourists to the CITY OF SARASOTA and provide a substantial economic benefit to the community (2DCA App.22-23,26-70). The Affidavit of David R. Sollenberger, City Manager, indicates the direct dollar impact to be in excess of \$9 million with a total economic impact of over \$15 million (2DCA App.23).

The Stadium is not being operated solely as a profit-making enterprise for the benefit of the Chicago White Sox, Ltd. The CITY OF SARASOTA has subsidized the cost of the operation of the Stadium from its General Fund each year because revenues generated by the Stadium are not sufficient to cover the operating expenses of the facility (2DCA App.24). The amount of this subsidy has been approximately \$200,000 per year (2DCA App.24,71).

The electorate of the CITY OF SARASOTA voted to approve the financing of the CITY OF SARASOTA Sports Complex ("Stadium") through the sale of general obligation bonds (R90,170). The Circuit Court of the Twelfth Judicial Circuit in and for Sarasota County in City of Sarasota v. The State of Florida and Several Property Owners, Taxpayers, and Citizens of the City of Sarasota, et al., Case No. 86-5596-CA-01; validated the General Obligation Bonds for the CITY to construct the Stadium (2DCA App.4,8,18). The judgment in said bond validation proceeding contained as a conclusion of law that the issuance of the \$8.5 million General Obligation Bonds had

been approved as required by and in all respects in accordance with the provisions of Article VII, Section 12, Fla.Const. (2DCA App.4,8,18).

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The proper inquiry in determining whether a nongovernmental lessee is entitled to an ad valorem tax exemption is the **use** of the property, **not** whether the lessee is operating for-profit.

The CITY OF SARASOTA is entitled to a total exemption from ad valorem tax for the Stadium parcel. The Second District erred in affirming the granting of Summary Judgment in favor of MIKOS because under §196.199(2)(a) and §196.012(6), Fla.Stat., the use by the Chicago White Sox of the Stadium for their spring training games serves at least two governmental-governmental functions: (1) public recreation and (2) promotion of tourism. §196.199(2)(a), Fla.Stat., provides an express exemption from ad valorem tax for leasehold interests in property of municipalities used by nongovernmental lessees when the lessee serves or performs a governmental, municipal, or public purpose or function. Clearly this criterion has been satisfied as to the lease of the Stadium to the Chicago White Sox.

The Chicago White Sox perform a public purpose which would be a valid subject for the allocation of public funds; thus satisfying the second criterion in §196.199(2)(a), Fla.Stat. The construction of the Stadium by the CITY OF SARASOTA was financed by the issuance of General Obligation Bonds which were validated by the Circuit Court as serving a public purpose. Additionally, the CITY has subsidized the cost of the operation of the Stadium with tax revenues each year because revenues generated by the Stadium are insufficient to cover the operating expenses of the Stadium.

The Legislature enacted House Bill 2557 in 1994 which amended §196.012(6), Fla.Stat., to expressly list the types of public recreational facilities which when leased to nongovernmental lessees, serve a governmental, municipal, or public function to include stadiums and sports facilities with permanent seating. House Bill 2557 served to clarify the definition of the phrase "governmental, municipal, or public purpose or function" used in §196.199(2), Fla.Stat. rather than change the definition, and thus is an excellent indication of the original intent of the Legislature. The cases cited in Section II of this Brief provide that the above statement is especially true when the courts have issued conflicting statutory interpretations as in the case <u>sub judice</u>. The amendment in House Bill 2557 clearly indicates that the Legislature always intended to include sports facilities with permanent seating and stadiums as governmental, municipal, or public functions.

The First District in <u>Page v. Fernandina Harbor Joint Venture</u>, 608 So.2d 520 (Fla. 1st DCA 1992), implemented the intent of the Legislature by focusing on the public recreational use of the leasehold, and not the for-profit nature of the lessee. For the foregoing reasons, this Court should reverse the Summary Judgment in favor of MIKOS.

ARGUMENT

- I. THE SECOND DISTRICT ERRED IN AFFIRMING SUMMARY JUDGMENT IN FAVOR OF MIKOS AND AGAINST THE CITY OF SARASOTA WHEN THE CITY'S REQUEST FOR AD VALOREM TAX EXEMPTION WAS DENIED.
 - THE CITY OF SARASOTA HAS MET ITS A. BURDEN OF PROOF THAT THE CITY OF SARASOTA IS ENTITLED TO AN AD VALOREM TAX EXEMPTION SINCE THE CRITERIA §196.199(2)(A) AND IN §196.012(6), FLA.STAT., HAVE BEEN SATISFIED AS TO THE CITY OF SARASOTA SPORTS COMPLEX AND ED SMITH STADIUM AS A MATTER OF LAW.

The criteria to determine whether the lease by the CITY OF SARASOTA of the Stadium to the Chicago White Sox is exempt from ad valorem taxation is whether the Chicago White Sox perform functions or serve governmental purposes which could be properly be performed or served by the CITY or which would be a valid subject for the allocation of public funds. This criteria derives from §196.199(2)(a), Fla.Stat. (1993), which provides as follows:

Property owned by the following governmental units but used by nongovernmental lessees shall only be exempt from taxation under the following conditions:

(a) Leasehold interests in property of the United States, of the state or any of its several political subdivisions, or of municipalities, agencies, authorities, and other public bodies corporate of the state shall be exempt from ad valorem taxation only when the lessee serves or performs a governmental, municipal, or public purpose or function, as defined in

§196.012(6). In all such cases, all other interests in the leased property shall also be exempt from ad valorem taxation... (emphasis added);

and, §196.012(6), Fla.Stat. (1993):

Governmental, municipal, or public purpose or function shall be deemed to be served or performed when the lessee under any leasehold interest created in property of the United States, the state, or any of its political subdivisions, or any municipality, agency, authority, or other public body corporate of the state is demonstrated to perform a function or serve a governmental purpose which could properly be performed or served by an appropriate governmental unit, or which is demonstrated to perform a function or serve a purpose which would otherwise be a valid subject for the allocation of public funds... (emphasis added).

MIKOS argues that the CITY's claim for exemption for ad valorem tax for the City of Sarasota Sports Complex and Ed Smith Stadium should be strictly construed against the CITY and in favor of the taxing power. It is the CITY's position that the Florida Supreme Court in Saunders v. City of Jacksonville, 25 So.2d 648 (Fla. 1946), held that the general rule of construing claims for exemption strictly against the claimant does not apply when a municipality is claiming the exemption. Specifically, the court stated:

Many of our opinions have been cited to sustain the principle that exemptions from taxes are frowned upon and each claim should be strictly construed. This rule does **not** apply where the question is raised by a municipality asserting the exemption by virtue of a statute duly passed pursuant to the Constitution. In the latter case exemption is the rule and taxation is the exemption. <u>Saunders</u>, 25 So.2d at 651 (Emphasis added.)

Similarly, in R. K. Overstreet v. Indian Creek Village, 239 So.2d 149 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1970), the court in considering whether a municipality qualifies for an exemption for ad valorem tax stated:

Two rules impel us to affirm the judgment. First is the rule that although statutes granting exemptions are to be construed strictly against the claimant and in favor of the taxing authority in cases of doubt, strict construction may not be invoked against a municipality asserting an exemption. State ex rel. Green v. City of Pensacola, Fla. 1961, 126 So.2d 566. R. K. Overstreet, 239 So.2d at 151.

In fact, the courts have a duty to recognize and give effect to exemptions from taxes. In <u>Green v. Eglin AFB Housing, Inc.</u>, 104 So.2d 463 (Fla. 1st DCA 1958), the court in considering a claim for exemption from tangible personal property tax stated: "It is as much the duty of the court to recognize and give effect to exemptions from taxes as it is to enforce the payment of taxes on those transactions not exempted." 104 So.2d at 467.

B. THE USE BY THE CHICAGO WHITE SOX OF THE CITY OF SARASOTA SPORTS COMPLEX AND THE ED SMITH STADIUM FURTHERS PUBLIC RECREATIONAL PROGRAMS AND THUS SERVES A GOVERNMENTAL-GOVERNMENTAL FUNCTION.

The First District Court of Appeal has correctly addressed the issue of whether the governmental construction or promotion of recreational facilities constitutes a valid public purpose in <u>Page v. Fernandina Harbor Joint Venture</u>, 608 So.2d 520 (Fla. 1st DCA 1992). This case involves an appeal from a final order entered by a circuit court granting a motion for summary judgment in favor of a nongovernmental lessee of

a marina owned by the City of Fernandina Beach. As in the present case, the nongovernmental lessee claimed a 100% exemption from ad valorem tax under \$196.199(2)(a) and \$196.012(6), Fla.Stat. The court determined that this criteria had been satisfied by stating:

Under the first definition, Florida courts have long recognized that governmental construction or promotion of recreational facilities, including a public marina, constitutes a valid public function. Page, 608 So.2d 523

The court determined that the nongovernmental lessee's use of the property had been identical to that previously undertaken for years by the city. The only change pursuant to the lease had been which entity, the nongovernmental lessee or the city, was responsible for operating the marina. The court concluded that because the city owns the improvements and the nongovernmental lessee uses them for a valid public purpose, the lessee has carried its burden of demonstrating that the improvements are not taxable to the lessee or the city. This case is directly applicable to the Stadium since the CITY OF SARASOTA has constructed the Stadium and has used it to promote public recreational programs and simply because some of these public recreational programs are in the form of spring training games of the Chicago White Sox as lessee, the public recreational purpose is nonetheless present. In fact in Page v. Fernandina Harbor Joint Venture, 608 So.2d 520 (Fla. 1st DCA 1992), the court appropriately emphasized the use of the leasehold rather than the for-profit status of the lessee by stating:

... [T]he inquiry as to whether an exemption under the statute applies is to be governed by the *use* of the subject property and not by the institutional character of the entity

using the property: "A right of exemption... is to be determined by the use by which the property is put in the ownership of the property." Page, 608 So.2d 524

There is ample evidence in the record that the Stadium functions as a public park for athletic purposes including during the major league training games of the Chicago White Sox, Ltd. and the minor league games of their farm team affiliate (2DCA App.5,18). The Affidavits of City Manager David R. Sollenberger clearly describe the public recreational programs scheduled along with the spring training games of the Chicago White Sox, Ltd. at the Stadium. Specifically, these public recreational programs include football games of the Sarasota Ringling Redskins team, Sarasota youth soccer games, practice games of the Sarasota County Little League, and soccer games of the Sarasota High School soccer team, baseball games of five high school teams, baseball games of the Sarasota County Little League, Sarasota High School Alumni baseball games, and baseball clinics for various organizations, all of which are held at the Stadium (2DCA App.22-23).

The Second District's reliance on <u>Sebring Airport Authority v. McIntyre</u>, 623 So.2d 541 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1993), in the per curiam opinion in the case <u>sub judice</u> was misplaced. The following two cases cited for legal authority in <u>Sebring Airport Authority</u>, 623 So.2d 541, are clearly not applicable to the operation of a municipal stadium for spring training games.

Specifically, <u>Capital City Country Club v. Katie Tucker</u>, 613 So.2d 448 (Fla. 1993), involved the lease of municipally owned property for purposes of operating a *private* golf course. Whether the lease of the private golf course furthered a governmental-

governmental function was not an issue in the case. The nongovernmental lessee conceded that the golf course was not being used for municipal or public purposes. The sole issue was whether the imposition of real estate taxes on the fair market value of the land and the imposition of intangible taxes on the leasehold interest constituted a double taxation of the property. The court concluded that it did not constitute double taxation. Even if one were to assume arguendo, as MIKOS asserts, that the holding in Capital City Country Club stands for the proposition that a private golf course was not a governmental-governmental function, the lease of the Stadium to the Chicago White Sox is an entirely different situation. It would appear that a private golf club would restrict its membership to only those individuals who could afford to pay membership fees in the range of at least \$1,000.00 per year and would not allow members of the public access to the course in accordance with certain selective criteria of membership which would be established by the private club. In contrast, the only requirement for admission to a Chicago White Sox game would be the purchase of a ticket for approximately \$9.50 The key issue MIKOS overlooks in his comparison is access by members of the general public which is critical to a finding of public purpose.

The other case cited by the Second District in <u>Sebring Airport Authority</u>, 623 So.2d 541, was <u>Volusia County v. Daytona Beach Racing and Recreational Facilities</u>

<u>District</u>, 341 So.2d 498 (Fla. 1976). The court's reliance upon <u>Volusia County</u> is misplaced. Indeed the court determined that public property leased to a private corporation for an automobile racetrack is not the performance of a "governmental-governmental" function and thus not tax exempt. However, the decision in this case

was factually specific to the particular use: an automobile racetrack; and none of the uses occurring at the City of Sarasota Sports Complex is a use of that nature. The facts in <u>Volusia County</u>, 341 So.2d 498 at 500 were that the Daytona Beach Racing and Recreational Facilities District leased 448 acres of raw land to the International Speedway Corporation who undertook to construct a racetrack facility at its own expense as the principal consideration for the leasehold. The *sole* use of the leasehold was the operation of an automobile racetrack for profit by the lessee. In contrast, in the case at bar the CITY OF SARASOTA constructed and operates the Stadium. No evidence was introduced in <u>Volusia County</u> that public funds had been used to subsidize the operation of the racetrack. Additionally, the CITY OF SARASOTA presented evidence of the numerous public recreational programs occurring at the Stadium in addition to the games of the Chicago White Sox, Ltd. (2DCA App.21-22).

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