WOOA

FILED
SIDE WHITE

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA

AUG 1 1994

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

Chief Deputy Clerk

CITY OF SARASOTA, a municipal corporation,

Appellant/Petitioner,

v.

Case No. 83,177

J. W. MIKOS, Property Appraiser for Sarasota County, Florida,

Appellee/Respondent.

On Appeal from the Second District Court of Appeal In and for the State of Florida

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE/RESPONDENT,
J. W. MIKOS, PROPERTY APPRAISER FOR SARASOTA COUNTY, FLORIDA

Robert K. Robinson
Florida Bar No. 0815081
John C. Dent, Jr.
Florida Bar No. 0099242
DENT, COOK & WEBER
1844 Main Street
Post Office Box 3269
Sarasota, Florida 34230
(813) 952-1070
Attorneys for
Appellee/Respondent, MIKOS

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

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Property owned by municipality is subject to taxation, unless it is used for a governmental, municipal or public purpose or other exempt purpose. Municipal property leased to a nongovernmental lessee is subject to ad valorem taxation unless it can be demonstrated the lessee serves or performs a governmental, municipal, or public purpose or function, or the property is used exclusively for literary, scientific, religious or charitable The Chicago White Sox, a major league baseball purposes. franchise, as lessee of the municipal owned property, does not use the property for any exempt purpose. The leasehold of the Chicago White Sox, a non-exempt entity, serves a proprietary function for the practice by, and exhibition of, its baseball team for profit. The CITY's property is subject to taxation to the extent of a leasehold that does not serve or perform a governmental, municipal or public purpose or function as required by Florida Statutes.

The bond validation proceeding did not determine the issue of whether the subject municipal property was entitled to an exemption from taxation on the grounds that its leasehold served or performed a governmental, municipal or public purpose or function. Final judgment of the Circuit Court in the bond validation proceeding only served to determine that it was a proper allocation of public funds to construct a baseball stadium and associated sports complex. The PROPERTY APPRAISER has not sought to tax the public's use of the stadium and sports complex. The bond validation

proceeding has no effect upon the taxability of this property and is irrelevant to this appeal.

Tax statutes operate only prospectively unless the statute evidences a clear legislative intent to the contrary. The Amendment to Section 196.012(6), Florida Statutes (1994), clearly states the amendment takes affect beginning with the 1994 and subsequent tax rolls. The amendment cannot be applied retroactively to exempt that portion of the property used for non-exempt purposes for the 1990 tax roll.

Regardless of whether the amendment operates retroactively or prospectively, a blanket exemption from ad valorem taxation for a sports facility with permanent seating and stadiums is in violation of Article VII, Section 3, of the Florida Constitution (1968). The courts of this State have held time and again that when municipal property is utilized for a governmental proprietary function, it is not exempt from taxation. The Legislature is without power to grant exemptions from ad valorem taxation when not authorized by the Florida Constitution.

#### ARGUMENT

- I. THE APPELLATE COURT CORRECTLY AFFIRMED THE FINAL SUMMARY JUDGMENT IN FAVOR OF THE PROPERTY APPRAISER
  - A. THE CITY OF SARASOTA FAILED TO CARRY ITS BURDEN ESTABLISHING THAT THE USE OF ITS LEASED GOVERNMENT PROPERTY CONSTITUTED AN EXEMPT GOVERNMENTAL FUNCTION.

The issue in this case involves the denial of a total exemption from ad valorem taxation of real property and improvements owned by the CITY which is leased a portion of the year to the owner of the Chicago White Sox. It is basic to ad valorem tax law that certain governmental entities have immunity from taxation. This immunity was established by the Courts of Florida as opposed to the legislature. Those governmental entities entitled to immunity from taxation for their property, owned and used exclusively by them, include the United States, the State and its political subdivisions (counties). Park-N-Shop, Inc. v. Sparkman, 99 So.2d 571 (Fla. 1957); Dickinson v. City of Tallahassee.

Cities are <u>not</u> included in this group. They are taxable entities entitled to exemptions under certain statutory conditions. The inquiry into the question of ad valorem tax exemptions must begin with Section 196.001, Florida Statutes, (1991), which provides:

See <u>Dickinson v. City of Tallahassee</u>, 325 So.2d 1 (Fla. 1975).

#### 196.001. Property subject to taxation

Unless expressly exempted from taxation, the following property shall be subject to taxation in the manner provided by law:

- (1) All real and personal property in this state and all personal property belonging to persons residing in this state;
- (2) All leasehold interests in property of the United States, of the State or any political subdivision, municipality, agency, authority, or other public body corporate of the State.

The legislative intent of this statute is to recognize that all property within this state is taxable unless immune or expressly exempted by law.

Since municipalities are not immune from taxation, their property is only entitled to exemption if it is owned and used exclusively by the municipality for municipal or public purposes or other exempt purposes. Article VII, Section 3(a), of the Florida Constitution, provides:

(a) All property owned by a municipality and used exclusively by it for municipal or public purposes shall be exempt from taxation....

The legislative implementation of this exemption of municipal property is found in Section 196.199, Florida Statutes (1991), which states:

- (1) Property owned and used by the following governmental units shall be exempt from taxation under the following conditions...
  - (c) All property of the several political subdivisions and municipalities of this state or of entities created by general

or special law and composed governmental entirely of agencies, or property conveyed a nonprofit corporation to would revert to which governmental agency, which is for governmental, municipal, or public purposes shall be exempt from ad valorem taxation, except as otherwise provided by law.

- (2) Property owned by the following governmental units but used by nongovernmental lessees shall only be exempt from taxation under the following conditions...
  - (a) Leasehold interests in property of the United States, of the state or any of its several political subdivisions, or of municipalities, agencies, authorities, and other public bodies corporate of the state shall be exempt from ad valorem taxation only when the lessee serves or performs governmental, municipal, or public purpose or function, as defined in Section 196.012(6), Florida Statutes (1991). cases, all such all other interests in the leased property shall also be exempt from ad valorem taxation. However, a leasehold interest in property of the state may not be exempted from ad valorem taxation when a nongovernmental lessee uses such property for the operation of a multipurpose hazardous waste treatment facility...
  - (c) Any governmental property leased to an organization which uses the property exclusive for literary, scientific, religious, or charitable purposes shall be exempt from taxation...

(4) Property owned by any municipality, agency, authority, or other public body corporate of the state which becomes subject to a leasehold interest or other possessory interest of a nongovernmental lessee other than that described in paragraph (2)(a), after April 14, 1976, shall be subject to ad valorem taxation unless the lessee is an organization which uses the property exclusively for literary, scientific, religious, or other charitable purposes. (emphasis added)

Section 196.199(1)(c), Florida Statutes (1991), specifically implements the above constitutional provision that property of a municipality is entitled to an exemption from taxation when used for governmental, municipal or public purposes.

Section 196.199(2)(a), Florida Statutes (1991), applies only to leasehold interests in the property of all governmental entities. It provides that the leaseholds may become exempt when the lessee serves or performs a governmental, municipal, or public purpose or function.

The PROPERTY APPRAISER has not sought to assess the leasehold interest of the White Sox. He is assessing the "fee or reversion" interest of the CITY which is subject to the lease with the White Sox and only for the proportionate time of their use. Therefore, Section 196.199(2)(a), Florida Statutes (1991), is not directly involved. The PROPERTY APPRAISER denied the total exemption and granted only a partial exemption when he determined at least fifty percent of the use was exempt. See Section 196.192, Florida Statutes (1991). He acted pursuant to Subsection 196.199(4), Florida Statutes (1991).

Subsection (4) provides that when a municipality leases its property to a nongovernmental lessee, that property is subject to taxation. This provision provides an exception when the leasehold is one described in paragraph (2)(a) above.<sup>2</sup>

Therefore, the property of the CITY is subject to taxation under Section 196.199(4), Florida Statutes (1991), unless it can be demonstrated that the leasehold interest of the Chicago White Sox is found to serve or perform a governmental, municipal, or public purpose or function as described in Subsection (2)(a). Section 196.199(2)(a), Florida Statutes (1991).

The definition for governmental, municipal or public purpose or function in Section 196.199(2)(a), Florida Statutes (1991), is defined in Section 196.012(6), Florida Statutes (1991), which provides:

Governmental, municipal, or public purpose or function shall be deemed to be served or performed when the lessee under any leasehold interest created in property of the United States, the state or any of it political subdivisions, or any municipality, agency, authority, or other public body corporate of the state is demonstrated to perform a function or serve a governmental purpose which could properly be performed or served by an appropriate governmental unit, or which is demonstrated to perform a function or serve a purpose which would otherwise be a valid subject for the allocation of public funds...

This subsection also provides for exemption if the lessee uses the property for other exempt uses; however, the CITY has conceded the use by the White Sox is not for a literary, scientific, religious or charitable purpose. (R.172, 174).

The above statutory section has been construed by the courts to determine its appropriate application for entitlement to exemption.<sup>3</sup> It is the CITY's position that the White Sox' use of its property is such an exempt use, that the CITY's method of financing and construction determined its exempt status and that a recent amendment to Section 196.012(6), Florida Statutes (1991), should be construed retroactively to exempt this property from taxation.

It is axiomatic in tax law that the burden is on the one claiming the exemption to clearly show an entitlement to the tax exemption. As enunciated in <u>Williams v. Jones</u>, 326 So.2d 425 (Fla. 1975), all property is subject to taxation unless expressly exempt, and such exemptions are strictly construed against the party claiming them. <u>See also State v. Inter-American Center Authority</u>, 84 So.2d 9 (Fla. 1955).

The CITY argues that the general rule of construing claims for exemptions strictly against a claimant does not apply when a municipality is claiming the exemption. In support of its position, the CITY cites three cases which include Saunders v. City of Jacksonville, 25 So.2d 648 (Fla. 1947); R. K. Overstreet v. Indian Creek Village, 239 So.2d 149 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1970) and State ex rel Green v. City of Pensacola, 126 So.2d 566 (Fla. 1961).

Section 196.012(6), Florida Statutes, was amended in 1994 to grant ad valorem tax exemptions to sports facilities with permanent seating and stadiums. The application of this amendment and its constitutionality will be discussed later in this brief.

These cases are inapplicable to this appeal because they do not involve the lease of government property by a non-governmental lessee. There are, however, several ad valorem tax cases which hve applied the rule of strict construction to governmental entities.

In an ad valorem tax case, taxation is the rule unless an exemption can be shown as contained in Section 196.199, Florida Statutes (1991). The case of <u>Volusia County v. Daytona Beach Racing and Recreational Facilities District</u>, 341 So.2d 498 (Fla. 1976), demonstrates the application of this strict construction rule.

The District was created by special act of the Florida legislature in 1955. This governmental body acquired certain lands in the City of Daytona Beach and in turn leased its entire acreage to a private corporation to construct a race track facility at the corporation's own expense. The District claimed an exemption from taxation on the leasehold interest under Section 196.199(2)(a), Florida Statutes (1991).

The Florida Supreme Court placed the burden on the claimant, i.e., the District, to show clearly an entitlement to tax exemption. The Court stated "the rule is that all property is subject to taxation unless expressly exempt and such exemptions are strictly construed against the party claiming them". Id. at 341. Thus, the Florida Supreme Court applied the rule of strict construction to a governmental body similar to a municipality.

Two other cases involving municipalities and the lease of governmental property have failed to apply the rule argued by the

CITY that strict construction is inapplicable when a question of an exemption is raised by a municipality. See <u>City of Orlando v.</u>

<u>Hausman</u>, 534 So.2d 1183 (5th DCA 1988); <u>City of Bartow v. Roden</u>,

286 So.2d 228 (Fla. 2d DCA 1973).

In <u>Williams</u>, the Supreme Court outlined the test to determine whether a nongovernmental lessee of government property is performing the requisite public purpose. As stated therein:

...[i]t is the utilization of leased property from a governmental source that determines whether it is taxable under the constitution. citing Straughn v. Camp, 293 So.2d 689 (Fla. 1974). Williams, 326 So.2d at 433.

and the Supreme Court later in the opinion stated:

[T]he exemptions contemplated under Sections 196.012(5) (now (6)) and 196.199(2)(a) Florida Statutes (1991), relate to "governmental-governmental" functions as opposed to "governmental proprietary" functions.... Thus all privately used property bears a tax burden in some manner and that is what the constitution mandates. Williams, 326 So.2d at 432.

The PROPERTY APPRAISER's motion for summary judgment, the CITY's responses to The PROPERTY APPRAISER's request for admissions, and the remaining record before this Court demonstrate that the CITY failed to carry its burden in establishing entitlement to a 100% exemption from ad valorem taxation for the subject property. The PROPERTY APPRAISER adequately demonstrated that it had assessed only that portion of the subject property used by the Chicago White Sox for a governmental-proprietary function pursuant to Section 196.192(2) and Section 196.012(3), Florida Statutes (1991).

B. THE CHICAGO WHITE SOX USE OF THE STADIUM BUILDINGS AND OTHER FACILITIES IS A GOVERNMENTAL-PROPRIETARY FUNCTION AND DOES NOT ENTITLE THIS PROPERTY TO TOTAL EXEMPTION FROM AD VALOREM TAXATION.

To determine the extent of the exemption of the subject property when leased to a non-governmental lessee and also used by the public for other recreational purposes, we must examine the abundant case law to determine the status of the use by the lessee. The examination must begin with the land mark decision in Williams. This case concerns a class of taxpayers consisting of commercial and residential leaseholders of property from the Santa Rosa Island Authority. These taxpayers challenged the assessment of their leasehold for ad valorem tax purposes. The Circuit Court rendered judgment for the county property appraiser and the lessees appealed.

These commercial taxpayers operated barber shops, plumbing businesses, beauty shops, laundries, rental cottages or rental units, motels, restaurants and camp grounds. They argued the operation of this facility constituted a governmental or public purpose or function defined in the statute which preceded Section 196.012(6), Florida Statutes (1991). The Court held that the operation of these commercial establishments was proprietary and for profit and not for exempt governmental functions or purposes.

This decision was rendered on the prior statute which did not break out some leaseholds for separate treatment as intangibles as provided in the current version of this section and its subsection.

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